# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

## Case No. 80884

Electronically Filed Aug 03 2020 01:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown FRANCHISE TAX BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALTER Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

GILBERT P. HYATT

Respondent.

Appeal Regarding Judgment and Post-Judgment Orders Eighth Judicial District Court District Court Case No.: A382999

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment after a jury trial ("Judgment") and post-judgment orders. (10 AA 001552-61; 37 AA 005865-68). Appellate jurisdiction exists under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and 3A(b)(8). After remand from this Court, the district court entered the Judgment on February 21, 2020, and notice of entry of the Judgment was filed and served on February 26, 2020. (10 AA 001552-73). FTB also moved for its attorney's fees and costs, and the Court denied the same on June 8, 2020 ("Fees and Costs Order"). (37 AA 005865-98). Notice of entry of the Fees and Costs Order was filed and served on June 8, 2020. (37 AA 005867).

FTB timely appealed both the Judgment and the Fees and Costs Order. (37 AA 005750-62; 37 AA 005876-85). FTB filed its notice of appeal of the Judgment on March 20, 2020, and FTB filed a supplemental notice of appeal about the Fees and Costs Order on June 8, 2020. *See id*. This appeal is therefore timely. *See* NRAP 4(a).

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case involves FTB, a State of California government agency. The case has implicated constitutional issues and questions of first impression since the beginning of its procedural history. It has also been the subject of several appeals in front of this Court and the Supreme Court of the United States. As a result, it is presumptively assigned to this Court. *See* NRAP 17(a).

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. NRS 18.020 states that all statutory litigation costs "must be allowed of course to the prevailing party against any adverse party against whom judgment is rendered." FTB obtained a complete victory through the Judgment, which dismissed respondent Gilbert P. Hyatt's ("Hyatt") case and awarded him none of his requested relief. Even so, the district court refused to award FTB's costs because it found FTB was not the prevailing party. Did the district court err in doing so?
- 2. Alternatively, NRCP 68(f)(1)(B) covers offers of judgment and states that an offeree who rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment "must pay" the offeror's post-offer costs. FTB made a valid offer of judgment, which Hyatt rejected and did not beat through the Judgment. The district court still refused to award FTB's post-offer costs and expenses. Did the district court err in doing so?
- 3. NRCP 68(f)(1)(B) also provides that an offeree who rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment "must pay" the offeror's post-offer attorney's fees. Again, though FTB made a valid offer of judgment and Hyatt rejected and failed to beat the same, the district court refused to award FTB's post-offer attorney's fees. Did the district court err in doing so?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Woven throughout this entire case's fabric has been FTB's arguments that, as a State of California government agency, it was constitutionally immune from suit in Nevada and that Nevada courts had no jurisdiction over FTB. (35 AA 005525-29). Through two decades of litigation, as Hyatt continued to press legally deficient causes of action in multiple jurisdictions, FTB placed the sovereign immunity and jurisdiction arguments into nearly each of its pleadings, filings, and appellate briefs. (1 OA 00153-232; 2 OA 00464 - 3 OA 00512).<sup>1</sup> It did so at considerable time and expense to the State of California and its citizens, including through the historic Great Recession and unprecedented financial strain to California's budget. (35 AA 005542-43).

In FTB's most recent appeal, the Supreme Court of the United States fully accepted FTB's arguments, unraveling Hyatt's entire case in the process. (10 AA 001558-59). The Supreme Court of the United States found that states' immunity from suit was a fundamental aspect of sovereignty and that FTB has not waived such immunity. This gave FTB a complete and clean victory in the case. (10 AA 001559-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As the Court is no doubt aware, the parties submitted voluminous appendices in the prior 2009 appeal bearing Nevada Supreme Court case number 53264. FTB's appendix alone totaled 93 volumes and over 23,000 pages. Rather than re-file the same appendices here at substantial cost and time to the Court and the parties, FTB at times refers to such prior appendices here as the "Original Appendix" and cited as \_\_OA \_\_.

60).

Even so, after remand and instruction from this Court, the district court without a motion pending and without a hearing—preemptively denied FTB its costs and attorney's fees. Though costs under NRS Chapter 18 are mandatory to the prevailing party, the district court found that FTB was not a prevailing party despite its complete victory in the case. To justify that conclusion, the district court misapplied an NRCP 68 analysis to an NRS Chapter 18 request.

Specifically, the district court *sua sponte* conflated prevailing party analysis under NRS Chapter 18 with offer of judgment analysis under NRCP 68(f). This also prompted the district court to find that FTB could not enforce its prior offer of judgment despite post-offer costs being mandatory under NRCP 68(f)(1)(B). It also denied FTB's post-offer attorney's fees under the same rule. The district court entered the Judgment on these bases. (10 AA 001552-61).

Trying to correct the district court's legal errors, FTB first filed a memorandum of costs, which Hyatt sought to re-tax. (10 AA 001574-85). FTB also filed a motion for post-offer costs and attorney's fees based on NRCP 68 and FTB's offer of judgment. (35 AA 005519-45). Still, the district court solidified its prior errors by entering the Fees and Costs Order, which left FTB and California citizens to bear all FTB's attorney's fees and costs despite FTB's complete victory over Hyatt's meritless case. (37 AA 005865-68).

FTB now appeals the Judgment and the Fees and Costs Order as to the district court's denial of FTB's attorney's fees and costs.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. <u>Hyatt's Tax Dispute and His Attempts at Tax Avoidance.</u>

Hyatt is a former 23-year resident of California who received hundreds of millions of dollars in fees related to technology patents he once owned and developed in California. (1 OA 00003). In 1992, Hyatt filed a California tax return stating he had stopped being a California resident and had become a Nevada resident on October 1, 1991. (1 OA 00004).

FTB, the State of California government agency responsible for collecting personal income tax, learned that Hyatt had not moved to Nevada on October 1, 1991, as he claimed. (1 OA 00160). For these reasons, FTB commenced an audit of Hyatt's 1991 return. *See id.* The audit concluded that Hyatt did not move to Nevada until April 1992, and that he remained a California resident until that time. (1 OA 00161-63). FTB accordingly determined that Hyatt owed around \$1.8 million in unpaid California income tax for 1991, plus penalties and interest. *See id.* Because FTB determined that Hyatt resided in California for part of 1992 yet paid no California taxes, FTB also opened an audit for that year that concluded Hyatt owed another \$6 million in taxes and interest, plus further penalties. *See id.* Disputes over these deficiency assessments between Hyatt and FTB over the audit

determinations' validity have gone on over two decades in California. (1 OA 00001).

# 1. The Nevada Litigation Sought to Avoid Hyatt's California Tax Liability.

In January 1998, as California's administrative review of FTB's deficiency assessment was just beginning, Hyatt sued FTB in Nevada. (10 AA 001552-53). In a Nevada state court, Hyatt alleged that FTB committed several torts while auditing his tax returns. (10 AA 001552-53). Hyatt sought compensatory and punitive damages. (1 OA 00001-16). But Hyatt's lead claim was one that sought a declaratory judgment, asking a Nevada court to declare that he resided in Nevada during the periods relevant to FTB's audits. (1 OA 00009-12).

FTB began its defense of the Nevada litigation by asserting its immunity from the suit. (1 OA 00153-232). FTB moved for summary judgment, arguing that it was entitled to immunity from suit in Nevada. (2 OA 00464 - 3 OA 00512). The district court denied that motion, and FTB petitioned this Court for a writ of mandamus, arguing FTB was immune from suit in Nevada courts. (2 OA 00422-63). This Court rejected FTB's claim of complete immunity, which set up the first decision from the Supreme Court of the United States. *Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt ("Hyatt I")*, 538 U.S. 488 (2003) (allowing Hyatt's case to proceed without addressing FTB's constitutional immunity arguments).

# 2. In Addition to This Case, Hyatt Files a Second Lawsuit in Federal Court Seeking to Avoid His California Tax Liabilities.

Beyond the California tax proceedings and the case in front of the Nevada district court, Hyatt also sued FTB in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of California. *See Hyatt v. Chiang*, 2015 WL 545993 at \*1 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2015). In that case, Hyatt claimed FTB's efforts in processing his California administrative tax appeal violated his constitutional rights under the due process and equal protection clauses. *See id.* He thus sought an injunction barring FTB from "continuing the investigation and administrative proceedings against him" and from "continuing to assess or threaten to assess [Hyatt], or collect or threaten to collect from [Hyatt], taxes, penalties, or interest." *Id.* 

Much like the Nevada case, Hyatt went on the offensive seeking to interject another court's ruling, this time from a federal district court, into the California tax proceedings as a mechanism to avoid tax liability. *See id.* The district court in the federal case stated, "[i]t is evident that [Hyatt] seeks to void the tax or taxes assessed against him." *Id.* at \*6. But the federal district court was unconvinced about Hyatt's claims, and so it dismissed the lawsuit against FTB. *See id.* Hyatt appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, but that court also remained unconvinced by Hyatt's arguments and instead affirmed the district court's dismissal of his case. See Hyatt v. Yee, 871 F.3d 1067, 1078 (9th Cir. 2017).<sup>2</sup>

# B. <u>Hyatt's Multi-Faceted Litigation Strategy Against FTB Mirrored His</u> <u>Litigation in Other Forums.</u>

Make no mistake, Hyatt is a sophisticated litigant with substantial experience not only litigating against FTB but against many other parties in multiple forums. Hyatt has frequently used the "win at any and all costs" litigation strategy he used against FTB. During the time he sued FTB in this case, Hyatt filed 32 separate lawsuits against other parties in federal courts alone. (36 AA 005679-81). He did so in forums including Nevada, Virginia, California, and the District of Columbia. (36 AA 005679-81). Hyatt has also litigated several appeals during the same time in the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. (36 AA 005682-84). And Hyatt also litigated appeals to the Supreme Court of the United States in many of those cases. (36 AA 005686-89).

A review of these cases' dockets reveals that Hyatt is a sophisticated party who spent millions of dollars litigating unrelated cases while at the same time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> FTB attached the Ninth Circuit briefings as an exhibit to its motion for attorney's fees and costs in front of the Nevada district court. (36 AA 005691-5722). Those briefs detail the time the tax proceedings have consumed since Hyatt first contested his tax liability to the State of California. (36 AA 005691-5722). FTB did not seek recovery of any attorney's fees incurred in Hyatt's California tax proceedings or its directly related litigation. (35 AA 005519-45).

spending additional millions suing FTB.

# C. <u>FTB Serves Hyatt With an Offer Of Judgment in the Nevada Litigation,</u> <u>But He Rejects It to Go to Trial.</u>

After the Supreme Court of the United States' decision in *Hyatt I*, the parties engaged in massive discovery and pretrial proceedings. (35 AA 005527). Those efforts are well-documented in the docket entries for this case. (36 AA 005573-5639).

Nearly ten years after Hyatt sued and nearly twelve years before this appeal, FTB served an offer of judgment ("Offer") upon Hyatt under NRCP 68 and NRS 17.115 offering to settle for \$110,000.00, "inclusive of all pre-offer, prejudgment interest, taxable costs and attorneys fees." (36 AA 005641-42). FTB made the Offer after discovery had closed. (35 AA 005527).

As discussed above, from this case's very beginning, FTB contended that it was immune from suit in Nevada courts and that Nevada could not exercise jurisdiction over FTB as a California agency. *See Hyatt I*, 538 U.S. at 492 (noting FTB's summary judgment motion "argued that the District Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because principles of sovereign immunity, full faith and credit, choice of law, comity, and administrative exhaustion" required dismissal). Because of its belief that FTB was immune from suit in Nevada, FTB explicitly made the Offer case concluding of the Nevada litigation: "This Offer of Judgment shall apply to all claims asserted by Hyatt against FTB in the above referenced action and if

accepted, shall completely resolve this matter." (36 AA 005641-42). But Hyatt rejected the Offer. (35 AA 005527).

After Hyatt's rejection, the parties worked doggedly preparing the case for trial. *See id.* Between FTB's Offer and trial, Hyatt filed nearly 20 pretrial motions. *See id.* The trial itself began April 15, 2008 and lasted four months, covering over 75 trial days. *See id.* The trial included 58 witnesses and over 2,789 multi-page exhibits. *See id.* Ultimately, a jury found in Hyatt's favor on all claims tried and with interest and costs, the judgment was over \$490 million in money damages, the majority coming from punitive damages. *See Franchise Tax Bd. of California v. Hyatt*, 130 Nev. 662, 674, 335 P.3d 125, 133-34 (2014).

#### D. <u>Later Appeals Ultimately Reduce Hyatt's Original Judgment to Nothing.</u>

At each stage of appellate proceedings after the runaway jury award that Hyatt obtained at trial, FTB succeeded in slowly correcting the legal errors inherent in the award. That corrective appellate path first started with the reversal of several of Hyatt's causes of action, and it ultimately ended in the Supreme Court of the United States holding that Hyatt's entire case was legally inappropriate based on constitutional immunity principles.

FTB appealed Hyatt's jury award to this Court, which affirmed in part and reversed in part the judgment in Hyatt's favor. *See id.* In doing so, the Court noted that several of Hyatt's causes of action were flawed as a matter of law. *See id.* But

the Court again rejected FTB's immunity contentions, prompting FTB to appeal to the Supreme Court of the United States, which again granted certiorari on two questions. *See Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt* ("*Hyatt II*"), 136 S. Ct. 1277, 1280 (2016). Over 40 states filed amicus briefs at both the petition stage and merits stage in support of FTB, including the State of Nevada. *See id.* 

The Supreme Court of the United States reached different results on the two questions presented. *See id.* On the first question, the *Hyatt II* court held that the Full Faith and Credit Clause does not "permit [] Nevada to award damages against California agencies under Nevada law that are greater than it could award against Nevada agencies in similar circumstances." *Id.* at 1281. "In light of the constitutional equality among the states," "Nevada has not offered 'sufficient policy considerations' to justify the application of a special rule of Nevada law that discriminates against its sister states." *Id.* at 1282. On the second question, the *Hyatt II* court divided equally on the issue of whether it should overrule *Nevada v. Hall*, 440 U.S. 410 (1979).<sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 1279. Notably, *Nevada v. Hall* addressed whether one state is immune from the jurisdiction of a sister state. *Id.* 

On remand, and after supplemental briefing in which FTB challenged continuing hostile and discriminatory treatment in Nevada courts, this Court issued

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Though Justice Antonin Scalia attended oral argument during *Hyatt II*, he died before the written opinion issued, and so the *Hyatt II* opinion came out from only 8 justices, resulting in a 4-4 split on the issue of *Nevada v. Hall*.

a new decision. *See Franchise Tax Bd. of California v. Hyatt*, 133 Nev. 826, 407 P.3d 717 (2017) (further reducing the judgment to a fraction of the original judgment). From that decision, FTB once again petitioned the Supreme Court of the United States for certiorari, which it granted before issuing the opinion in *Franchise Tax Bd. of Calif. v. Hyatt* ("*Hyatt III*"), 587 U.S. at\_\_\_, 139 S. Ct. at 1488 (2019). As before, multiple states supported FTB's petition with amicus briefs. *See id.* 

*Hyatt III* outlined the long history of this case and its factual predicate before concluding that Hyatt had no right to assert claims against FTB in Nevada courts without the State of California's consent. *See id.* at 1492. The *Hyatt III* Court overruled *Nevada v. Hall* and stressed that "States' immunity from suit is a fundamental aspect of the sovereignty" that States enjoy in our constitutional system and that the United States Constitution "embeds interstate sovereign immunity within the constitutional design." *Id.* at 1493 and 1497. This echoed *Hyatt II* 's previous statement that haling FTB into state court in Nevada and applying special rules would "cause chaotic interference by some States into the internal, legislative affairs of others." *Hyatt II*, 578 U.S. at \_\_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. at 1282.

*Hyatt III* and its command that Nevada courts must dismiss Hyatt's action against FTB based on constitutional immunity principles led to a complete victory for FTB in the case, in which FTB achieved all its litigation objections while Hyatt achieved none. (10 AA 001552-61).

# E. <u>Despite FTB's Complete Victory in the Nevada Litigation, the District</u> <u>Court Misinterprets NRS 18.020 and NRCP 68 to Find That FTB Cannot</u> <u>Recover Its Costs or Attorney's Fees.</u>

1. After Remand and With No Motion Pending, the District Court Sua Sponte Orders Blind Briefing at Hyatt's Urging and Enters A Judgment Pre-emptively in Hyatt's Favor on the Issues of Costs and Attorney's Fees.

After the remand from *Hyatt III* to this Court and ultimately the district court, the district court scheduled a status check based on this Court's remand order. (1 AA 000003-4). At that status check, Hyatt's counsel suggested that the district court—with no motion pending—could vacate the prior judgment without entering any new judgment and "simply say there is no prevailing party," at which point the district court and the parties would be "all done." (1 AA 000013). FTB objected, but the district court ordered blind briefing with no opportunity for FTB to file a reply brief on the issue of whether there was a prevailing party in the case. (1 AA 000014). This effectively robbed the district court of being fully informed by the parties on the issue of costs and attorney's fees before it ruled on the same. (1 AA 000005-18).

After Hyatt and FTB filed their blind briefs,<sup>4</sup> and with no hearing, the district

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the district court constrained its request to prevailing party status, which has nothing to do with enforcing offers of judgment under NRCP 68, FTB did not brief any issues related to its Offer and NRCP 68. (1 AA 000019-39).

court rejected Hyatt's invitation not to enter a judgment against him, and instead entered the Judgment, dismissing Hyatt's case and giving FTB a complete victory. (10 AA 001552-61) (Judgment reciting that "this case is dismissed and Hyatt [shall] take nothing from any of the causes of action he asserted in this action"). Even so, the district court preemptively denied FTB's costs and attorney's fees, though FTB had not yet filed a motion requesting them. *See id*.

a. The district court conflates the analysis of "prevailing party" under NRS Chapter 18 with the analysis of an offer of judgment under NRCP 68.

In the Judgment, the district court seized upon Hyatt's offer to pre-emptively decide the issues of attorney's fees and costs without any motion pending. In doing so, the district court conflated prevailing party analysis under NRS Chapter 18 with analysis of an offer of judgment under NRCP 68. (10 AA 001559-60). Though prevailing party analysis does not apply to NRCP 68, the district court analyzed the factors in *Beattie v. Thomas*, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.3d 268 (1983), to conclude that FTB was not the prevailing party in this case.<sup>5</sup> *See id.*

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