IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA Case No. 80884

FRANCHISE TAX BOARD OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Appellant

v.

Electronically Filed Oct 01 2020 06:58 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

GILBERT P. HYATT

Respondent

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
Case No. A382999
THE HONORABLE TIERRA JONES, District Judge, Department X

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON BEHALF OF GILBERT P. HYATT

MARK A. HUTCHISON, Nev. Bar No. 4639 MICHAEL K. WALL, Nevada Bar No. 2098 HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC. 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89145

Telephone: (702) 385-2500 Facsimile: (702) 385-2086

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

The district court's decision was also entirely consistent with federal law and decisions from other states that have held that the trial court has discretion to deny costs where there is no actual prevailing party. This includes denial as a matter of equity, where an unanticipated change-in-law *during the litigation* reversed the results of the case. This body of law is entirely consistent with the district court's finding that there was no prevailing party, and therefore no party is entitled to an award of costs or attorney's fees in this case.

Similarly, the district court also properly denied the FTB an award of costs and attorney's fees under NRCP 68 ("Rule 68"). The district court had discretion under established law to deny the FTB costs under Rule 68, applying the same *Beattie* factors used to determine whether attorney's fees should be awarded. ⁸ As the district court found, Hyatt brought this case and pursued it in good faith. At the time of the FTB's Rule 68 offer of judgment in 2007, *Nevada v. Hall* was still the long-standing, valid and existing precedent and had not been challenged by the FTB. Reliance on precedent is not unreasonable or in bad faith. Such reliance supports Hyatt's rejection of the \$110,000 offer of judgment, especially where a jury returned a verdict at trial of almost \$500,000,000, or close to 5,000 times more than the offer of judgment. The district court correctly so found.

In fact, Hyatt accepting such an offer would have been unreasonable, given the binding precedent of *Nevada v. Hall* at the time of the offer and at the time of the jury verdict at trial. Under Nevada law, the district court was well within its discretion in denying the FTB costs and attorney's fees under Rule 68. Although these factors are more frequently addressed in the context of attorney's fees,⁹ this Court has more than once affirmed that *costs and fees* are subject to the discretion of the trial court and can be (and should be) denied when, as here, the offer of

⁸ Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588–89, 668 P.2d 268, 274 (1983).

⁹ Costs are more typically addressed under NRS 18.020. As a result, most cases addressing Rule 68 address only attorney's fees.

judgment was not made in a good faith attempt to settle the case and was rejected in good faith based on the then-available facts and law applicable to the case.

Here, based on its timing and amount, the FTB's settlement offer was not a good faith attempt to settle the case. Hyatt in good faith rejected it. The offer was made in late 2007, after the case had been reviewed by the United States Supreme Court and twice by this Court, and the case was allowed to proceed to trial specifically based on *Nevada v. Hall*—with no hint or suggestion that the long-standing precedent would be overturned *twelve years in the future*. The amount offered, \$110,000, was well below the costs alone each side had incurred at that time, and to say nothing of the attorney's fees expended, making the offer neither realistic nor in good faith to avoid the impending trial. As the district court found:

Hyatt brought this action in good faith in reliance on the United States Supreme Court precedent Nevada v. Hall. During the last 21 years while relying on Nevada v. Hall, Hyatt prevailed in both the Nevada Supreme Court (2002) and the United States Supreme Court in 2003 (*Hyatt I*) and then obtained a large jury verdict and final judgment against the FTB (2008), which the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed in part (2014). The United States Supreme Court's reversal of its long-standing *Nevada v. Hall* precedent in *Hyatt III* in 2019 stripping this Court of jurisdiction over the FTB could not have been anticipated by Hyatt.

Hyatt also had a good faith belief that he would prevail at trial on his claims and recover in excess of the \$110,000 offer of judgment made by the FTB in 2007. Hyatt did obtain a verdict and final judgment well in excess of that amount. The damages limitation to Hyatt's claims was not decided and imposed until 2016 in *Hyatt II*. It was therefore

not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith for Hyatt to not accept the FTB's offer of judgment of the \$110,000 in 2007. . . . Further, as of 2007, this case had been reviewed by both the Nevada Supreme Court (2002) and the United States Supreme Court (2003), and the FTB had not argued that *Nevada v. Hall* was wrongly decided and should be reversed. The FTB did not assert that argument or seek that relief with the United States Supreme Court until 2015 after ruling by this Court and exhausting all appeals in the Nevada Supreme Court. ¹⁰

Offers of judgment are to be used to foster settlement based on the facts and circumstances at the time made. It is not to be used as a tactical device for the purpose of recovering costs and fees to which the party would not otherwise be entitled. The reasonableness and good faith in making and rejecting the offer cannot be based on future, unknown and unexpected developments, particularly changes in long-standing United States Supreme Court precedent. The district court was well within its discretion in finding that it was not unreasonable or in bad faith for Hyatt to reject the offer of judgment.

Because of the change in law, and given the broad deference afforded to the district court in exercising discretion in awarding fees and costs, there is no legal basis to reverse the district court's decision that there was no prevailing party in this action and not awarding costs or attorney's fees to either side. The trial court's decision should be affirmed in its entirety.

¹⁰ 10 AA 1559-60.

2. Statement Of The Issues.

- 1. What is the standard of review when a party challenges the district court's determination that there was no prevailing party in the action?
- 2. Given the extensive and complicated history of this case through multiple decisions of the district court, the Nevada Supreme Court, and the United States Supreme Court, which history reflects the difficult legal questions presented, and given the ultimate overturning of long-standing precedent, did the district court abuse its wide discretion in determining there was no prevailing party in this action?
- 3. Did the district court abuse its wide discretion in denying the FTB's request for costs and motion for attorney's fees under Rule 68?

3. Statement of the Case.

This case was filed in 1998. Before the case went to trial in 2008, Hyatt prevailed in the United States Supreme Court¹¹ and in the Nevada Supreme Court¹² on the issue of whether Nevada courts have jurisdiction over a California agency, based on *Nevada v. Hall*. The case therefore proceeded to a jury trial in Nevada district court. Hyatt prevailed at trial, and this Court affirmed part of the judgment

¹¹ Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 538 U.S. 488 (2003) ("Hyatt I").

¹² Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., No. 35549, No. 36390, 2002 Nev. LEXIS 57, at *10 (Nev. Apr. 4, 2002) (unpublished disposition).

in Hyatt's favor—including the jury's verdict that the FTB had committed fraud and intentionally inflicted emotional distress against Hyatt.¹³ At that time, Hyatt clearly was the "prevailing party", and FTB had no claim for costs or attorney's fees.

Having exhausted its appeals in Nevada and lost virtually every phase of the case, the FTB again sought review by the United States Supreme Court—17 years after this case was filed—asking for the first time that the Court reverse its long-standing Nevada v. Hall precedent and retroactively strip this Court of jurisdiction. After two reviews over a four-year period and a change in membership on the Court, the United States Supreme Court granted the FTB's request in 2019 and reversed Nevada v. Hall, depriving this Court for the first time of jurisdiction over the FTB.

This Court then remanded the case to the district court to enter a final judgment *and determine whether there is a prevailing party*. That is precisely what the district court did, and what this Court tasked it to do. In two separate

_

¹³ Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 130 Nev. 662, 710, 335 P.3d 125, 157 (2014).

¹⁴ 13-14 RA 3181-3312.

¹⁵ See *Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt*, 136 S. Ct. 1277 (2016) ("Hyatt II"); *Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt*, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019) ("Hyatt III").

¹⁶ Franchise Tax Board of State of California v. Hyatt, 445 P.3d 1250 (Nev. 2019) (unpublished disposition) (a copy is at 17 RA 4027).

rulings, and after two separate rounds of briefing, the district court found that neither side was a prevailing party and that neither side was entitled to an award of attorney's fees or costs.¹⁷ There is no legal basis to overturn the district court's ruling.

4. Statement Of Facts.

The district court's judgment sets forth a detailed procedural history of this case from its filing in 1998 through the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Hyatt III* in 2019 and then this Court's remand on the case to the district court, also in 2019, for the specific purpose of deciding whether there is a prevailing party. The district court's eight-page procedural history is supported by a 94-exhibit, multi-volume appendix that was part of the district court record and not challenged by the FTB in the district court.

Based in substantial part on the two-decade-plus procedural history of the case, the district court found there was no prevailing party entitled to an award of costs or attorney's fees. Hyatt sees no need here to repeat the entire procedural history of the case, with which this Court is all too familiar. Hyatt instead provides a summary of the material events from the case history that confirm that the district court was well within its discretion in finding there was no prevailing party and

¹⁷ 10 AA 1560; 37 AA 5865-68.

¹⁸ 10 AA 1552-59; see also 1 AA 1-2.

¹⁹ 6 AA 719-29; 6 AA 754-61; 7 AA 1056-1059; 1-17 RA 2-4027.

denying the FTB costs and attorney's fees.

A. Summary of 21-year case procedural history through *Hyatt III* (1998 to 2019).

(1) Case filing and initial appellate review (1998 to 2003).

Hyatt filed this action on January 6, 1998, against the FTB, the California state agency responsible for assessing state income taxes.²⁰ Hyatt's suit was filed in Nevada, based on and consistent with the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Nevada v. Hall* that a state could not claim immunity in the courts of a sister state based on that state's own immunity laws. In *Nevada v. Hall*, the California court refused to limit the liability of a Nevada agency for tortious conduct committed in California, in accord with Nevada law.²¹ The California court treated the Nevada agency as if it had no immunity in California. The United States Supreme Court affirmed the California court's award of full damages to the California resident against the Nevada agency.

Hyatt's complaint in this case sought full recovery of damages he incurred due to tortious actions of the FTB, which occurred in Nevada or were directed into Nevada while Hyatt was residing in Nevada. He sought damages from the FTB

²⁰ 6 AA 761-78.

²¹ Hall v. Univ. of Nev., 141 Cal. Rptr. 439, 442 (Ct. App. 1977), aff'd, Nevada v. Hall, 440 U.S. 410 (1979), rev'd, Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, 139 S. Ct. 1485 (2019).

stemming from its bad faith and intentional misconduct.

The FTB first tried and failed to remove this case to federal court (1998).²² The FTB then tried and failed to have the district court dismiss Hyatt's tort claims at the pleading stage (1999).²³ The FTB then sought and was denied summary judgment (2000), including on its failed argument that it was entitled to an exception to the *Nevada v. Hall* precedent.²⁴

Having been denied summary judgment by the district court, the FTB filed a writ petition with this Court seeking review of the district court's denial of the FTB's summary judgment motion.²⁵ This Court accepted review (2000).²⁶ The FTB did not ask this Court to overrule or not recognize *Nevada v. Hall.*²⁷ Ultimately, this Court denied the FTB's petition concluding that: (1) Hyatt had sufficient evidence for his tort claims; (2) Nevada had jurisdiction to hear Hyatt's intentional tort claims against the FTB under Nevada v. Hall; and (3) Nevada would adjudicate those claims as a matter of comity because the State of Nevada allows its state agencies to be sued in Nevada's courts for intentional torts.²⁸

²² 6 AA 780-84; 809-27.

²³ 2-3 RA 334-349; 351-697.

²⁴ 5-6 RA 1221-1281; 1283-1286.

²⁵ 4; 6 RA 901-942; 1291-1342.

²⁶ 7 RA 1494-1496.

²⁷ 8 RA 1794-1812; 1814-1827; 1829-1840; 1842; 1844-1868; 1870-1923; 1925-1950.

²⁸ 8 RA 1785-1792.

(2) The FTB then obtained review, but was denied relief, by the United States Supreme Court in a 9-0 decision against the FTB (2002 to 2003).

The FTB's first petition for review and its merits briefing to the United States Supreme Court neither asserted nor sought review on the issue of whether *Nevada v. Hall* was wrongly decided and should be reversed. Rather, the FTB argued that an exception to *Nevada v. Hall* should be established.²⁹ The United States Supreme Court agreed to review the case, but then issued a unanimous 9-0 decision denying the FTB's appeal, *Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt*, 538 U.S. 488 (2003) ("*Hyatt I*").³⁰ The decision cited *Nevada v. Hall*, rejected the FTB's asserted exception to *Nevada v. Hall*, and concluded that this Court had appropriately applied comity by allowing Hyatt's intentional tort claims to proceed in Nevada state court while dismissing Hyatt's negligence claim. *Id*.

(3) Return to the district court for completion of discovery and trial (2003 to 2008).

After the United States Supreme Court and this Court's decisions favorable to Hyatt, the parties conducted additional discovery including on whether the FTB acted in bad faith by delaying and extending the audit and protest process in order

²⁹ 8 RA 1794-1812; 1829-1840; 1844-1868; 1925-1950.

³⁰ 8-9 RA 1952-1959; 1961.

to put pressure on Hyatt to settle the tax proceeding in California.³¹ The district court denied the FTB's summary adjudication motion seeking to remove the bad faith delay issue from the case (2006).³²

The FTB then made an offer of judgment for \$110,000 (inclusive of costs) in late 2007.³³ Hyatt did not accept the offer, and as evidenced by the bill of costs he later filed, he had incurred millions of dollars in costs.³⁴

The case proceeded to a four-month jury trial in 2008. The jury returned verdicts on August 6, 2008 (liability for and award of compensatory damages), on August 11, 2008 (liability for punitive damages), and on August 14, 2008 (award of punitive damages). The jury awarded Hyatt compensatory damages of \$85 million for emotional distress; compensatory damages of \$52 million for invasion of privacy; attorney's fees and other professional fees as special damages of \$1,085,281.56 on Hyatt's fraud claim; and punitive damages of \$250 million. A judgment was entered consistent with the jury's verdicts. The district court later awarded Hyatt costs in the amount of \$2,539,068.65.

³¹ 9 RA 1963-2030; 2057-2062.

³² 9 RA 2032-2055; 2108-2146; 2148-2151.

³³ 11 RA 2484-2487.

³⁴ 11 RA 2670-2673.

³⁵ 11 RA 2489-2490; 2492; 2494.

³⁶ *Id*.

³⁷ 11 RA 2496-2500.

³⁸ 11 RA 2670-2673.

(4) This Court affirmed the jury's verdict on Hyatt's fraud claim and intentional infliction of emotional distress claim (2009 to 2014).

In the FTB's opening 100-plus-page brief filed with this Court on August 7, 2009, the FTB made a reference to *Nevada v. Hall*, but gave no emphasis to it. The FTB requested in a footnote that this Court evaluate the continuing viability of *Nevada v. Hall* stating in footnote 80 that "it is questionable whether there is still validity to" *Nevada v. Hall* and that this Court "may evaluate the continuing validity of an old United States Supreme Court opinion." Hyatt filed a responding brief that focused on the issues raised by the FTB. 40 Therefore, Hyatt did not address the jurisdiction issue or the validity of *Nevada v. Hall*, because that issue had been addressed and decided years earlier when this Court and the United States Supreme Court each concluded that jurisdiction was proper and allowed the case to proceed to trial.

This Court conducted two oral arguments on the FTB's appeal.⁴¹ The issue of reversing *Nevada v. Hall* was not raised in either argument by the parties or this Court. Instead, this Court affirmed the portion of the judgment in favor of Hyatt on his fraud claim and the award of \$1,085,281.56, and reached specific

³⁹ 11 RA 2526-2668. The FTB's 145-page Reply Brief did not address the validity of *Nevada v. Hall.* 12-13 RA 2901-3086.

⁴⁰ 11-12 RA 2675-2899.

⁴¹ 13 RA 3088-3125; 3127-3144.

conclusions as to the evidence that supported the fraud claim:

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